## Epididymosomes: Role of extracellular microvesicles in sperm maturation

## Robert Sullivan<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproduction, Faculty of Medicine, Universite Laval, and, Reproduction, Mother and Youth Health Division, Centre de Recherche du CHU de Quebec

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. The epididymis
- 4. Extracellular microvesicles named epididymosomes
- 5. Secretion of epididymosomes
- 6. Sperm-epididymosome interactions
- 7. Epididymosome heterogeneity
- 8. miRNA in epididymosomes
- 9. Conclusion
- 10. Acknowledgements
- 11. References

#### 1. ABSTRACT

The spermatozoa of vertebrate species that practice internal fertilization have to transit along the epididymis after leaving the testis. This epididymis is a single, long convoluted tubule that links the testis to the vas deferens (1). During this transit, the male gametes acquire their fertilizing ability and their forward motility properties. Collectively, these modifications known as sperm maturation depend on a series of wellorchestrated biochemical modifications imposed upon the transiting male gamete (2). These modifications are in part regulated by extracellular microvesicles called epididymosomes that are found in the intraluminal epididymal compartment (3, 4). In this review, the biochemical composition of epididymosomes, their mode of secretion, the mechanisms underlying their interactions with the male gamete, and how they are involved in sperm maturation will be described.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Two main functions are associated with the male gonad: production of hormones assuring the male phenotype and delivery of differentiated male gametes. In vertebrate species practicing internal fertilization, spermatozoa exiting the testis harbor all of the cytological features of functional gametes, but are incapable of fertilization. In order to acquire fertilizing ability, they must transit a single, long convoluted tubule linking the efferent ducts to the vas deferens (5). The epididymal length varies from one mammalian species to another, as does the sperm transit time, which can reach 90 m and 15 days in bulls, respectively. Anatomically, the epididymis is divided into three segments: the proximal caput, corpus and

distal cauda epididymidis. In rodents, a proximal «initial segment» with histological characteristics distinct from the caput is thought to play an essential role in sperm physiology (6). The epididymis is part of the excurrent duct originating from the Wolffian (mesonephric)(7-11) duct. The excurrent duct in virilised males is formed by the efferent ducts, the epididymis, the vas deferens, the ejaculatory duct, and seminal vesicles. As a result of the pioneering work of Orgebin-Crist and Bedford in the '60s the epididymis is known to be essential for the acquisition of fertilizing capacity and forward motility by the male gamete; changes collectively known as sperm maturation. Functions of the epididymis include water reabsorption from fluid originating from seminiferous tubules with subsequent sperm concentration, sperm protection against the immune response, and sperm storage in the optimal milieu of the distal segment (12). The epididymis is a feature of male reproductive tracts of mammalian phyla practicing internal fertilization. Coupled with the knowledge that copulation is not always synchronized with ovulation, it is hypothesized that the epididymis generates a heterogeneous population of male gametes with optimal maturity occurring at different time points post-copulation in order to increase the fertility window of a given ovulatory event. Thus, the epididymis is a complex organ playing key functions in sperm physiology (12).

## 3. THE EPIDIDYMIS

The epididymis is a single, long convoluted tubule and is formed by a pseudostratified epithelium of epithelial cells named principal cells. The epididymal

epithelium is highly active in protein secretion; the principal cells harbor pseudociliary projections at the apical pole in order to optimize this secretory activity. Sophisticated tight junctions between these cells assure the blood-epididymal barrier and allow formation of a unique intraluminal milieu. Principal cell height decreases along the epididymis, whereas the lumen diameter of the epididymal tubule increases. Although principal cells are the major cell type forming the epididymis, other cells types are also found within the epithelium such as: clear cells, which express V-ATPases and are involved in acidification of the intraluminal milieu; basal cells, which harbor cytoplasmic extensions that sense the composition of the epididymal fluid; and halo cells, which are more abundant in the proximal segments and are thought to represent a mixture of immune cells (12).

The epididymal intraluminal compartment is distinctive in comparison with other biological fluids. For example, the epididymal fluid pH is around 6.5.; the osmotic pressure can reach 400 mOsmol/kg and even higher in some species; the electrolyte composition is unique in comparison with other biological fluids, and the high Zn concentration is characteristic of the epididymis (11). Very tight gap junctions forming the blood—epididymal barrier assure the maintenance of the unique «epididymal sperm nursery» and assure the unique intraluminal environment necessary for sperm maturation (13).

The epididymis response to androgens stimulation involves a marked increase in translational and protein secretion activities. The epididymal fluid protein composition has been of interest since the '80s because interactions between epididymal intraluminal macromolecules and the sperm surface modulate sperm fertilizing ability and forward motility. A particular feature of the epididymis is the variability of the fluid proteome along the organ (14-16). A subset of soluble epididymal proteins is thought to be added to the maturing spermatozoa, or to be involved in modification to, or depletion of sperm proteins during epididymal transit (11). Furthermore, with regard to the proteome, each epididymal segment displays its own transcriptomic signature (8.17.18). Thus, sperm maturation involves sequential modifications to the transiting male gamete with a changing epididymal intraluminal milieu. The nature of the epididymal proteins involved in sperm maturation has been the subject of intense research by many laboratories (19). The mechanisms governing the targeting of specific sperm membrane subdomains by individual epididymal proteins remain puzzling (11). It rapidly became obvious that epididymal proteins secreted into the lumen of the epididymal tubule interact with spermatozoa in a manner that is incompatible with the classical merocrine secretion pathway. For example, certain epididymal proteins behave as integral membrane proteins once transferred to the maturing spermatozoa, others are anchored by

glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) (20) to the sperm surface, and yet others are integrated into intracellular compartments of the maturing male gamete (21).

# 4. EXTRACELLULAR MICROVESICLES NAMED EPIDIDYMOSOMES

In 1985, Yanagimachi *et al.* first described small membrane microvesicles in close contact with spermatozoa in the hamster epididymis (22). As they were enriched in cholesterol, it was hypothesized that these microvesicles could be involved in sperm membrane cholesterol/phospholipid changes occurring during maturation. Since this pioneering work, such vesicles have been described as constituents of the epididymal fluid in hamster (23) mice (24,25), rats (26), bulls (27,28), rams (29, 30), and humans (31). These vesicles, known as epididymosomes, are spherical in appearance and heterogeneous in size with diameters ranging from 50–250 nm.

Their diameter and appearance at the electron microscopic level vary along the epididymis, at least in the bull (32). They have recently been visualized by highresolution helium ion microscopy; these micrographs suggest that they «fuse» with the epididymal spermatozoa in laboratory rodent species (33). There is also electron micrographic support for this concept. Other experimental evidence at the light microscopic level proposes that epididymosomes interact preferentially with the acrosomal cap and the midpiece of epididymal spermatozoa in the bull (28, 34). Although the interaction and/or fusion of epididymosomes with epididymal spermatozoa is poorly documented at the microscopic level, there is substantial experimental evidence to support the concept that proteins, miRNAs and possibly other macromolecules such as phospholipids are transferred from epididymosomes to maturing spermatozoa (3).

A complex mixture of proteins is associated with epididymosomes. The protein composition of epididymosomes differs from the protein composition of the fluid fraction collected in the same epididymal segments (10.28.35). To date, the epididymosome proteome has been published using ram (35) and bull (10) tract tissues. A proteomic analysis has been performed on human microvesicles prepared from fluid aspirated from the proximal scrotal portion of the vas deferens, with the assumption that it is enriched in microvesicles originating from the epididymal fluid. A more exhaustive study compares the proteomes of caput and cauda epididymosomes from a bovine model. Using ES-MS/MS technology, 555 and 438 proteins were identified in caput and cauda bovine epididymosomes, respectively; 231 were common to both epididymosome populations (10). Biological networks of these proteomes show that epididymosome compositions and underlying functions vary along the epididymis. This study reveals

that some of the identified proteins are involved in sperm maturation as they are implicated in sperm—egg interactions and sperm motility. Of interest is that enzymes involved in glycosylation and in the acquisition of the GPI-anchor are also associated with epididymosomes. Rab and SNARE adhesion molecules are also found in the epididymosome proteomes and could be involved in mediating microvesicle adhesion to epididymal spermatozoa (10).

## 5. SECRETION OF EPIDIDYMOSOMES

Merocrine secretion is the most common pathway used by cells to secrete proteins. During this process, a signal peptide targets proteins to be secreted to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) where they are synthesized. Full-length proteins transit the Golgi apparatus where they undergo post-translational modifications. They are then packaged in secretory vesicles and released into the extracellular milieu after subsequent fusion with the apical plasma membrane of secretory cells.

Apocrine secretion is an alternative secretory mechanism of the merocrine pathway. It consists of the formation of cytoplasmic protrusions, which are referred to as apical blebs. These apical blebs detach from the secretory cells whereupon they breakdown to release their content; proteins synthesized on cytoplasmic free ribosomes and membrane-bound microvesicles. This secretion pathway was described as early as 1922 by Schiefferdecker cited by Anmuller et al (36), but was subsequently disregarded as apical blebs were considered by many to be fixation artifacts (36,37). It is now generally accepted that the rat coagulating gland, the prostate, the seminal vesicles, the vas deferens and the epididymis use the apocrine pathway to secrete proteins within the male reproductive tract (36). Formation of the underlying apical blebs at the apical pole of these epithelial cells is hormone-dependent. It is widely acknowledged that epididymosomes undergo apocrine secretion from epididymal principal cells (38). Rejraiji et al., provide clear electron micrographic illustrations of the existence of cytoplasmic blebs containing microvesicles at the apical pole of epididymal principal cells (25).

Other sources of microvesicles present in the epididymal intraluminal compartment cannot be excluded. This is particularly true when considering the heterogeneity of epididymosome diameter and their appearance at the electron microscopic level. Testicular origin of a subpopulation of epididymosomes has not yet been evaluated and cannot be excluded. On the other hand, different types of extracellular microvesicles present in different biological fluids have been described and classified according to their size, mode of secretion and presence of specific markers (39). One of the most studied types of microvesicle is the exosome and we cannot overlook the possibility that the epididymal

epithelium secretes this category of extracellular vesicle. Secretion by multivesicular bodies is one criterion used to discriminate exosomes from other microvesicles along with the presence of the tetraspanin CD9 surface protein. Whereas CD9 is characteristic of a subpopulation of epididymosomes in bovine epididymis, the presence of multivesicular bodies (40,41), as reported in a limited number of studies, does not appear to be the hallmark of the epididymal principal cells. Further investigation is necessary to understand the secretory pathway of epididymosomes.

# 6. SPERM-EPIDIDYMOSOME INTERACTIONS

Protein transfer from epididymosomes to spermatozoa has been studied in vitro using biotinylation of epididymosome surface proteins. A complex pattern of proteins accessible to biotinylation in bovine cauda epididymosomes is revealed by SDS-PAGE. Only a subset of these proteins is transferred to caput spermatozoa after co-incubation during in vitro experiments (28). This transfer shows a particular specificity as it is saturable and unlabeled epididymosomes compete with their biotinylated counterparts when added to the co-incubation medium. The transfer is temperature- and pH-dependent. Of interest is that the protein transfer efficiency reaches a maximum at pH 6.0.-6.5., which is the physiological pH of the intraluminal epididymal fluid. Whereas addition of divalent cations such as Ca, Mg, and Mn has no effect on protein transfer from cauda epididymosomes to caput spermatozoa. Zn potentiates the quantity of proteins transferred in a dose-dependent manner (28.42). Thus, with the knowledge that Zn is highly concentrated in epididymal tissues, this observation has physiological significance (43).

Studies using different animal models have epididymosome-associated that are transferred to the maturing spermatozoa (3) e.g. P26h/P25b (23,27), Sperm adhesion molecule 1 (SPAM1) (24, 44), glioma pathogenesis-related protein 1(GPR1L1) (45), and A desintegrin metalloproteases (ADAM2, ADAM3, ADAM7) (46), all of which are involved in fertilization processes. Glutathione peroxidase 5 (GPX5) (47), ubiquitin (UBC) (48), epididymal sperm binding protein 5 (CD52) (49), and epididymal sperm binding protein 1 (ELSPBP1) (50, 51) are epididymosomeassociated proteins that play a role in sperm protection or elimination. Additional proteins acquired by the maturing spermatozoa via their interaction with epididymosomes include: Plasma membrane Ca ATPase 4 (PMCA4) involved in sperm intracellular homeostasis: c-Src kinase. a player in the capacitation signaling cascade (52); macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) (28,53-55), a dense fiber-associated protein involved in sperm motility control; and liprin alpha 3 (Ppfia3), which plays a role in the acrosome reaction. Methylmalonate-semialdehyde

dehydrogenase (56) and cathepsin D (CAT-D) (57), are also epididymosomal proteins transferred to spermatozoa during epididymal transit; however, their functions in sperm physiology remained to be determined. Thus, there is increasing evidence that epididymal microvesicles interact with maturing spermatozoa by modulating their protein composition.

The male gamete also undergoes changes in lipid composition during epididymal transit. Experimental evidence suggests that epididymosomes could be, at least in part, involved in this sperm membrane remodelling. The lipid composition of epididymosomes per se shows some peculiarities: in mice and bulls the ratio of cholesterol: phospholipids in epididymosomes increases by 1.5. along the epididymis (10). Reijraji et al. show that murine epididymosomes are enriched in polyunsaturated fatty acid and sphingomyelin; the sphingomyelin concentration accounts for half of the phospholipid content of microvesicles collected in the cauda epididymidis (25). Cholesterol and sphingomyelin, which are abundant in bovine epididymosomes, are concentrated in epididymosome lipid rafts. These membrane domains are critical for protein transfer from epididymosomes to specific sub-compartments of spermatozoa (58). Fusion of epididymosomes with spermatozoa was studied in vitro using epididymosomes labeled with octadecyl rhodamine-B; a membrane lipid probe. Following in vitro fusion of immature bovine spermatozoa with epididymosomes, the decrease in the sperm plasma membrane cholesterol/phospholipids ratio is similar to that observed during epididymal transit of the bovine male gamete (34). This decrease in sperm membrane cholesterol/phospholipids ratio following co-incubation with epididymosomes described by Schwarz et al (34) is puzzling when one considers the high cholesterol content of epididymosomes. Thus, there is compelling evidence that microvesicles secreted in the intraluminal compartment play a major role in protein and lipid transfer to spermatozoa and that these macromolecules are involved in sperm maturation.

The mammalian sperm proteome is complex: in a given species more than 3, 000 different plasma membrane proteins can be identified by modern proteomic technologies. These proteins are highly segregated as they are associated with highly defined plasma membrane subdomains (11,59). This is also true for epididymal secreted proteins acquired by the transiting spermatozoa. These proteins can be loosely bound to the sperm surface by electrostatic interactions, whereas others behave as integral membrane proteins or as GPI-anchored molecular entities (11.23). Even more challenging is that some secreted proteins found in the intraluminal epididymal compartment become intracellular constituents of the maturing spermatozoa. This holds true for MIF, which is added to the sperm tail dense fibers where it regulates formation of disulfide

bonds within these intracellular structures (55,60). We performed a series of experiments using a bovine model to show that some epididymosome-associated proteins are exposed externally, whereas others are contained within the vesicles. Moreover, a subset of externally exposed epididymosome membrane-associated proteins is a constituent of raft membrane domains, whereas others are excluded from these membrane subdomains. The different localizations of epididymosome-associated proteins dictate the sperm domains to which they will be transferred; the raft-associated proteins will be transferred to sperm raft membrane domains and internal proteins will become constituents of intercellular compartments (58). Therefore, it appears that the manner in which proteins are segregated in the epididymal microvesicles or epididymosomes, determines the sperm sub-compartment targets to which they will be transferred in order to mediate the functions known to be acquired during epididymal sperm maturation. For example, the sperm P26h/P25b proteins involved in binding to the egg's zona pellucida, are transferred from epididymosome raft domains to rafts of sperm plasma membrane covering the acrosome, whereas MIF, contained within bovine epididymosomes, is transferred to the internal dense fibers of the sperm flagellum (21).

## 7. EPIDIDYMOSOME HETEROGENEITY

As mentioned above, epididymosomes comprise a heterogeneous population of vesicles with diameters ranging between 50-250 nm at the ultrastructural level. Whereas microvesicles called prostasomes, contained in human seminal plasma, can be fractionated into different subpopulations, a limited number of attempts have been made to isolate potential subpopulations of epididymosomes (61). Forbes et al. (1995) subjected rat epididymal fluid to sucrose gradient centrifugation to separate two populations of membranous vesicles that differed in size and enzymatic composition. With diameters in the micrometer range these vesicles likely differ from epididymosomes, which are characterized by diameters of less than 250 nm as described by a number of laboratories using different animal models (62,63). The existence of extracellular microvesicles has raised great interest during the last decade as a result of their potential roles in cell-cell communication and their possible implication in multiple pathophysiological situations. These vesicles have been tentatively classified according to their origin i.e. their mode of secretion, their size and their macromolecular composition. The bestcharacterized extracellular microvesicles are exosomes that harbor tetraspanin CD9, which is used as a marker of this type of microvesicle (39). Using an exosome purification protocol, we have been able to distinguish at least two distinct populations of microvesicles in an epididymosome preparation. These two populations of vesicles differ in size with the smaller one being characterized by CD9. This is analogous to exosomes

studied in other biological fluids. The tetraspanin domains of these small epididymosomes (exosomes) are involved in membrane fusion with spermatozoa since antibodies against CD9 and CD26, a CD9 partner, inhibit protein transfer when epididymosomes and epididymal spermatozoa co-incubated in vitro. The remaining population of larger CD9-negative epididymosomes contains a high level of epididymal sperm binding protein 1 (ELSPBP1) (32). The latter is highly expressed in the proximal bovine epididymis and is found in the intraluminal compartment in association with epididymosomes. Epididymal sperm binding protein 1 is specifically transferred to dead spermatozoa in the epididymis and remains associated with them following ejaculation. It was first described in humans as HE12, and orthologs exist in the dog, horse, pig and bull. Whereas the structure of this protein, characterized by type 2 fibronectin domains, is known, its function remains elusive. Of interest is that Zn, a cation that is highly concentrated in the epididymis, potentiates the association of ELSPBP1 with its partners and interaction with spermatozoa. The identification of ELSPBP1 partners suggests that binding of ELSPBP1 to epididymal sperm may be involved in the protection of live spermatozoa against detrimental molecules generated by dying spermatozoa within the epididymis (50,51). Thus, it appears that epididymosomes contain at least two distinct populations of microvesicles; an exosomelike CD9-positive population that transfers proteins involved in sperm maturation by fusion e.g. P25b and GliPr1L1 involved in zona pellucida recognition, MIF which modulates flagellum beating, and AKR1B1 (32). The remaining population harbors ELSPBP1, which binds to dying spermatozoa within the epididymis in order to protect the surviving male gametes. Further analyses of epididymosome subpopulations are expected to reveal additional functions associated with extracellular microvesicles present in the intraluminal compartment of the epididymis.

#### 8. miRNAS IN EPIDIDYMOSOMES

Recent work from Belleannée et al. shows that miRNAs are another constituent of epididymosomes. Comparison of epididymosomes collected from the caput and cauda segments of the bovine epididymis reveals that the epididymosome population in each segment has its own miRNA signature. In a given epididymal segment, the population of epididymosomal miRNAs differs from the miRNA signatures of epididymal tissues from which the epididymosomes were collected. This suggests the existence of a selection mechanism for epididymosomeassociated miRNAs (64). A number of in vitro experiments support the concept that epididymosomes can transfer their miRNA content to epididymal epithelial cells and thereby negatively modulate the presence of specific mRNAs. Therefore, it appears that epididymosomes secreted in the proximal region of the epididymis may modulate gene expression of epididymal principal cells

in more distal segments of the excurrent duct (65, 66). It remains to be determined whether epididymosomes transfer miRNAs to spermatozoa during their journey along the male tract.

#### 9. CONCLUSION

Epididymosomes form a complex mixture of extracellular microvesicles that are involved in sperm maturation and also in gene expression regulatory mechanisms along the epididymis. Further work is needed to appreciate the complex physiological processes that occur in the male reproductive tract under regulation by extracellular microvesicles.

#### 10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work of the author's laboratory cited in this review was supported by «Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada» grants to R Sullivan. Mrs Murielle Kelly is acknowledged for text editing.

## 11. REFERENCES

- T. W. Cooper: Epididymis. In: Encyclopedia of reproduction. Ed N. J. Knobil E. Academic Press, San Diego (1998)
- J. M. Bedford: The status and the state of the human epididymis. *Hum Reprod*, 9(11), 2187-99 (1994)
- 3. R. Sullivan and F. Saez: Epididymosomes, prostasomes, and liposomes: their roles in mammalian male reproductive physiology. *Reproduction*, 146(1), R21-35 (2013) DOI: 10.1.530/REP-13-0058
- R. Sullivan, F. Saez, J. Girouard and G. Frenette: Role of exosomes in sperm maturation during the transit along the male reproductive tract. *Blood Cells Mol Dis*, 35(1), 1-10 (2005)
  - DOI: 10.1016/j.bcmd.2005.03.005
- R. C. Jones: Evolution of the epididymis. In: The epididymis From molecules to clinical practice. A comprehensive survey of the efferent ducts, the epididymis and the vas deferens. Ed H. B. Robaire B. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York (2002)
- T. T. Turner: De Graaf's thread: the human epididymis. *J Androl*, 29(3), 237-50 (2008) DOI: 10.2164/jandrol.107.004119
- 7. G. A. Cornwall, Lareyre, J.J., Matusik, R.J.,

- Hinton, B.T., Orgebin-Crist, M.C.: Gene expression and epididymal function. In: *The epididymis: from molecules to clinical practice*. Ed B. Robaire, Hinton BT. Klumer academic/ Plenum Publishers, New York (2002) DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4615-0679-9 10
- D. S. Johnston, S. A. Jelinsky, H. J. Bang, P. Dicandeloro, E. Wilson, G. S. Kopf and T. T. Turner: The mouse epididymal transcriptome: transcriptional profiling of segmental gene expression in the epididymis. *Biol Reprod*, 73(3), 404-13 (2005)
   DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.105.039719
- 9. R. C. Jones: Evolution of the vertebrate epididymis. *J Reprod Fertil Suppl*, 53, 163-81 (1998)
- J. Girouard, G. Frenette and R. Sullivan: Comparative proteome and lipid profiles of bovine epididymosomes collected in the intraluminal compartment of the caput and cauda epididymidis. *Int J Androl*, 34(5 Pt 2), e475-86 (2011)
  - DOI: 10.1.111/j.1365-2605.2.011.0.1203.x
- 11. T. G. Cooper: Interactions between epididymal secretions and spermatozoa. *J Reprod Fertil Suppl*, 53, 119-36 (1998)
- 12. C. Belleannee, V. Thimon and R. Sullivan: Region-specific gene expression in the epididymis. *Cell Tissue Res*, 349(3), 717-31 (2012)
  DOI: 10.1.007/s00441-012-1381-0
- D. G. Cyr: Connexins and pannexins: Coordinating cellular communication in the testis and epididymis. *Spermatogenesis*, 1(4), 325-338 (2011)
   DOI: 10.4.161/spmg.1.4.1.8.948
- G. J. Dacheux JL, Castella S, Metayer S, Fouchecourt S, Dacheux F.: The epididymal proteome. In: The third international conference on the epididymis. Ed T. T. Hinton B. The Van Doren Co., Charlottesveill, Virginia, USA (2003)
- J. L. Dacheux, M. Belghazi, Y. Lanson and F. Dacheux: Human epididymal secretome and proteome. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 250(1-2), 36-42 (2006)
   DOI: 10.1016/j.mce.2005.12.022
- J. L. Dacheux, C. Belleannee, R. Jones, V. Labas, M. Belghazi, B. Guyonnet, X. Druart, J. L. Gatti and F. Dacheux: Mammalian

- epididymal proteome. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 306(1-2), 45-50 (2009) DOI: S0303-7207(09)00180-4 (pii)10.1.016/j.mce.2009.0.3.0.07
- 17. E. Dube, P. T. Chan, L. Hermo and D. G. Cyr: Gene expression profiling and its relevance to the blood-epididymal barrier in the human epididymis. *Biol Reprod*, 76(6), 1034-44 (2007) DOI: 10.1.095/biolreprod.106.0.59246
- V. Thimon, O. Koukoui, E. Calvo and R. Sullivan: Region-specific gene expression profiling along the human epididymis. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 13(10), 691-704 (2007)
   DOI: gam051 (pii)10.1.093/molehr/gam051
- R. Sullivan: Interaction between sperm and epididymal secretory proteins. In: *The male* gamete: from basic to clinical applications. Ed C. Gagnon. Cache River Press., Vienna (IL, USA) (1999)
- Z. Arsov, M. Schara, M. Zorko and J. Strancar: The membrane lateral domain approach in the studies of lipid-protein interaction of GPI-anchored bovine erythrocyte acetylcholinesterase. *Eur Biophys J*, 33(8), 715-725 (2004) DOI: 10.1007/s00249-004-0417-0
- 21. R. Sullivan, G. Frenette and J. Girouard: Epididymosomes are involved in the acquisition of new sperm proteins during epididymal transit. *Asian J Androl*, 9(4), 483-91 (2007)
  DOI: 10.1.111/i.1745-7262.2.007.0.0281.x
- 22. R. Yanagimachi, Y. Kamiguchi, K. Mikamo, F. Suzuki and H. Yanagimachi: Maturation of spermatozoa in the epididymis of the Chinese hamster. *Am J Anat*, 172(4), 317-30 (1985) DOI: 10.1002/aja.1001720406
- 23. C. Legare, B. Berube, F. Boue, L. Lefievre, C. R. Morales, M. El-Alfy and R. Sullivan: Hamster sperm antigen P26h is a phosphatidylinositol-anchored protein. *Mol Reprod Dev*, 52(2), 225-33 (1999)
  - DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-2795(199902)52: 2<225:AID-MRD14>3.0.CO;2-M
- G. S. Griffiths, D. S. Galileo, K. Reese and P. A. Martin-Deleon: Investigating the role of murine epididymosomes and uterosomes in GPI-linked protein transfer to sperm using SPAM1 as a model. *Mol Reprod Dev*, 75(11), 1627-36 (2008)

- DOI: 10.1.002/mrd.20907
- H. Rejraji, B. Sion, G. Prensier, M. Carreras, C. Motta, J. M. Frenoux, E. Vericel, G. Grizard, P. Vernet and J. R. Drevet: Lipid remodeling of murine epididymosomes and spermatozoa during epididymal maturation. *Biol Reprod*, 74(6), 1104-13 (2006)
   DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.105.049304
- P. Grimalt, F. Bertini and M. W. Fornes: High-affinity sites for beta-D-galactosidase on membrane-bound vesicles isolated from rat epididymal fluid. *Arch Androl*, 44(2), 85-91 (2000) DOI: 10.1080/014850100262245
- 27. G. Frenette and R. Sullivan: Prostasome-like particles are involved in the transfer of P25b from the bovine epididymal fluid to the sperm surface. *Mol Reprod Dev*, 59(1), 115-21 (2001)
  DOI: 10.1.002/mrd.1013
- G. Frenette, C. Lessard and R. Sullivan: Selected proteins of "prostasome-like particles" from epididymal cauda fluid are transferred to epididymal caput spermatozoa in bull. *Biol Reprod*, 67(1), 308-13 (2002) DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod67.1.308
- J. L. Gatti, S. Castella, F. Dacheux, H. Ecroyd, S. Metayer, V. Thimon and J. L. Dacheux: Post-testicular sperm environment and fertility. *Anim Reprod Sci*, 82-83, 321-39 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2004.05.011
- H. Ecroyd, P. Sarradin, J. L. Dacheux and J. L. Gatti: Compartmentalization of prion isoforms within the reproductive tract of the ram. *Biol Reprod*, 71(3), 993-1001. Epub 2004 May 26. (2004)
   DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.104.029801
- 31. V. Thimon, Frenette, G, Saez, S, Thabet, M, Sullivan, R: Protein composition of human epididymosomes: a proteomic and genomic approach. *Hum. Reprod.*, Under revision

(2008)

- J. N. Caballero, G. Frenette, C. Belleannee and R. Sullivan: CD9-positive microvesicles mediate the transfer of molecules to Bovine Spermatozoa during epididymal maturation. *PLoS One*, 8(6), e65364 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065364
- 33. T. G. Paunescu, W. W. Shum, C. Huynh, L. Lechner, B. Goetze, D. Brown and S. Breton:

- High-resolution helium ion microscopy of epididymal epithelial cells and their interaction with spermatozoa. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2014) DOI: 10.1.093/molehr/gau052
- A. Schwarz, G. Wennemuth, H. Post, T. Brandenburger, G. Aumuller and B. Wilhelm: Vesicular transfer of membrane components to bovine epididymal spermatozoa. *Cell Tissue Res*, 353(3), 549-61 (2013) DOI: 10.1.007/s00441-013-1633-7
- J. L. Gatti, S. Metayer, M. Belghazi, F. Dacheux and J. L. Dacheux: Identification, proteomic profiling, and origin of ram epididymal fluid exosome-like vesicles. *Biol Reprod*, 72(6), 1452-65 (2005)
   DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.104.036426
- G. Aumuller, B. Wilhelm and J. Seitz: Apocrine secretion--fact or artifact? *Anat Anz*, 181(5), 437-46 (1999)
   DOI: 10.1016/S0940-9602(99)80020-X
- 37. G. Aumuller, H. Renneberg, P. J. Schiemann, B. Wilhelm, J. Seitz, L. Konrad and G. Wennemuth: The role of apocrine released proteins in the post-testicular regulation of human sperm function. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 424, 193-219 (1997)
  DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4615-5913-9 39
- 38. L. Hermo and D. Jacks: Nature's ingenuity: bypassing the classical secretory route via apocrine secretion. *Mol Reprod Dev*, 63(3), 394-410 (2002)
  DOI: 10.1002/mrd.90023
- 39. C. Thery, L. Zitvogel and S. Amigorena: Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 2(8), 569-79 (2002) DOI:10.1.038/nri855
- D. S. Friend: Cytochemical staining of multivesicular body and golgi vesicles. *J Cell Biol*, 41(1), 269-79 (1969)
   DOI: 10.1083/jcb.41.1.269
- 41. C. C. Beu, A. M. Orsi and R. F. Domeniconi: Structure of the lining epithelium of the cauda epididymis of the golden hamster. *Anat Histol Embryol*, 38(1), 49-57 (2009)
  DOI: 10.1.111/j.1439-0264.2.008.0.0891.x
- 42. G. Frenette, J. Girouard and R. Sullivan: Comparison between epididymosomes collected in the intraluminal compartment of the bovine caput and cauda epididymidis. *Biol*

Reprod, 75(6), 885-90 (2006) DOI: biolreprod.106.0.54692 (pii)10.1.095/biolreprod.106.0.54692

- 43. C. A. Mawson and M. I. Fischer: Zinc content of the genital organs of the rat. *Nature*, 167(4256), 859 (1951)
  DOI: 10.1038/167859a0
- 44. P. A. Martin-Deleon: Epididymal SPAM1 and its impact on sperm function. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2006)
  DOI: 10.1016/j.mce.2005.12.033
- 45. J. Caballero, G. Frenette, O. D'Amours, C. Belleannee, N. Lacroix-Pepin, C. Robert and R. Sullivan: Bovine sperm raft membrane associated Glioma Pathogenesis-Related 1-like protein 1 (GliPr1L1) is modified during the epididymal transit and is potentially involved in sperm binding to the zona pellucida. *J Cell Physiol*, 227(12), 3876-86 (2012) DOI: 10.1.002/jcp.24099
- 46. J. S. Oh, C. Han and C. Cho: ADAM7 is associated with epididymosomes and integrated into sperm plasma membrane. *Mol Cells*, 28(5), 441-6 (2009) DOI: 10.1.007/s10059-009-0140-x
- E. Chabory, C. Damon, A. Lenoir, G. Kauselmann, H. Kern, B. Zevnik, C. Garrel, F. Saez, R. Cadet, J. Henry-Berger, M. Schoor, U. Gottwald, U. Habenicht, J. R. Drevet and P. Vernet: Epididymis seleno-independent glutathione peroxidase 5 maintains sperm DNA integrity in mice. *J Clin Invest*, 119(7), 2074-85 (2009)
   DOI: 10.1.172/JCI38940
- P. Sutovsky, R. Moreno, J. Ramalho-Santos, T. Dominko, W. E. Thompson and G. Schatten: A putative, ubiquitin-dependent mechanism for the recognition and elimination of defective spermatozoa in the mammalian epididymis. J Cell Sci, 114(Pt 9), 1665-75 (2001)
- 49. C. Kirchhoff and G. Hale: Cell-to-cell transfer of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored membrane proteins during sperm maturation. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 2(3), 177-84 (1996) DOI: 10.1093/molehr/2.3.177
- O. D'Amours, L. J. Bordeleau, G. Frenette,
   P. Blondin, P. Leclerc and R. Sullivan: Binder of sperm 1 and epididymal sperm binding protein 1 are associated with different bull sperm subpopulations. *Reproduction*, 143(6),

759-71 (2012) DOI: 10.1.530/REP-11-0392

- O. D'Amours, G. Frenette, L. J. Bordeleau, N. Allard, P. Leclerc, P. Blondin and R. Sullivan: Epididymosomes transfer epididymal sperm binding protein 1 (ELSPBP1) to dead spermatozoa during epididymal transit in bovine. *Biol Reprod*, 87(4), 94 (2012) DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.112.100990
- 52. D. Krapf, Y. C. Ruan, E. V. Wertheimer, M. A. Battistone, J. B. Pawlak, A. Sanjay, S. H. Pilder, P. Cuasnicu, S. Breton and P. E. Visconti: cSrc is necessary for epididymal development and is incorporated into sperm during epididymal transit. *Dev Biol*, 369(1), 43-53 (2012)

DOI: 10.1.016/j.ydbio.2012.0.6.0.17

- 53. R. Eickhoff, C. Baldauf, H. W. Koyro, G. Wennemuth, Y. Suga, J. Seitz, R. Henkel and A. Meinhardt: Influence of macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) on the zinc content and redox state of protein-bound sulphydryl groups in rat sperm: indications for a new role of MIF in sperm maturation. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 10(8), 605-11 (2004) DOI: 10.1093/molehr/gah075
- 54. R. Eickhoff, G. Jennemann, G. Hoffbauer, M. P. Schuring, H. Kaltner, F. Sinowatz, H. J. Gabius and J. Seitz: Immunohistochemical detection of macrophage migration inhibitory factor in fetal and adult bovine epididymis: release by the apocrine secretion mode? *Cells Tissues Organs*, 182(1), 22-31 (2006) DOI: 10.1159/000091715
- 55. G. Frenette, C. Lessard, E. Madore, M. A. Fortier and R. Sullivan: Aldose reductase and macrophage migration inhibitory factor are associated with epididymosomes and spermatozoa in the bovine epididymis. *Biol Reprod*, 69(5), 1586-92 (2003) DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.103.019216
- A. R. Suryawanshi, S. A. Khan, C. S. Joshi and V. V. Khole: Epididymosome-mediated acquisition of MMSDH, an androgen-dependent and developmentally regulated epididymal sperm protein. *J Androl*, 33(5), 963-74 (2012) DOI: 10.2.164/jandrol.111.0.14753
- 57. S. Asuvapongpatana, A. Saewu, C. Chotwiwatthanakun, R. Vanichviriyakit and W. Weerachatyanukul: Localization of cathepsin D in mouse reproductive tissues

- and its acquisition onto sperm surface during epididymal sperm maturation. *Acta Histochem*, 115(5), 425-33 (2013) DOI: 10.1.016/i.acthis.2012.1.0.0.05
- 58. J. Girouard, G. Frenette and R. Sullivan: Compartmentalization of proteins in epididymosomes coordinates the association of epididymal proteins with the different functional structures of bovine spermatozoa. *Biol Reprod*, 80(5), 965-72 (2009) DOI: biolreprod.108.0.73551 (pii)10.1.095/biolreprod.108.0.73551
- 59. R. Jones: Plasma membrane structure and remodelling during sperm maturation in the epididymis. *J Reprod Fertil Suppl*, 53, 73-84 (1998)
- R. Eickhoff, B. Wilhelm, H. Renneberg, G. Wennemuth, M. Bacher, D. Linder, R. Bucala, J. Seitz and A. Meinhardt: Purification and characterization of macrophage migration inhibitory factor as a secretory protein from rat epididymis: evidences for alternative release and transfer to spermatozoa. *Mol Med*, 7(1), 27-35 (2001)
- G. Frenette, J. Girouard, O. D'Amours, N. Allard, L. Tessier and R. Sullivan: Characterization of two distinct populations of epididymosomes collected in the intraluminal compartment of the bovine cauda epididymis. *Biol Reprod*, 83(3), 473-80 (2010) DOI: 10.1.095/biolreprod.109.0.82438
- 62. M. W. Fornes, A. Barbieri and J. C. Cavicchia: Morphological and enzymatic study of membrane-bound vesicles from the lumen of the rat epididymis. *Andrologia*, 27(1), 1-5 (1995)

DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0272.1995.tb02087.x

M. W. Fornes, A. Barbieri, M. A. Sosa and F. Bertini: First observations on enzymatic activity and protein content of vesicles separated from rat epididymal fluid. *Andrologia*, 23(5), 347-51 (1991)

DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0272.1991.tb02578.x

64. C. Belleannee, E. Calvo, J. Caballero and R. Sullivan: Epididymosomes convey different repertoires of microRNAs throughout the bovine epididymis. *Biol Reprod*, 89(2), 30 (2013)

DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.113.110486

65. C. Belleannee, E. Calvo, V. Thimon, D. G. Cyr,

- C. Legare, L. Garneau and R. Sullivan: Role of microRNAs in controlling gene expression in different segments of the human epididymis. *PLoS One*, 7(4), e34996 (2012) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034996
- 66. C. Belleannee, C. Legare, E. Calvo, V. Thimon and R. Sullivan: microRNA signature is altered in both human epididymis and seminal microvesicles following vasectomy. *Hum Reprod*, 28(6), 1455-67 (2013) DOI: 10.1.093/humrep/det088

**Key Words:** Epididymis, Spermatozoa, Andrology, Sperm Maturation, Exosomes, Epididymosomes, Extracellular Microvesicles, Male Reproductive Tract, Review

Send correspondence to: Robert Sullivan, Centre de recherche du CHU de Quebec, CHUL pavillion, room T3-57, 2705 boul Laurier, Quebec, QC, Canada, G1V 4G2, Tel: 418-525-4444 ext 46104, E-mail: robert.sullivan@crchul.ulaval.ca